
NORTH CAROLINA ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGE CONTROL 
COMMISSION MINUTES 

APRIL 18, 2008 
 
 

The following narrative and summary highlights action taken by the North Carolina Alcoholic Beverage 
Control Commission at its regular meeting on April 18, 2008, beginning at 10:13 AM. The meeting was 
recorded, and the disk in on file at the ABC Commission in the Legal Division. 
 

ROLL CALL 
 

Chairman Douglas A. Fox, Commissioner Mike Joyner and Commissioner John Lyon were present at the 
meeting. 
 
MINUTES OF MARCH 13, 2008, MEETING 
 
Chairman Fox made a motion to waive the reading of the minutes from the March 13, 2008, meeting into the 
record. Seconded by Commissioner Lyon. So Ordered. Chairman Fox made a motion to approve the minutes 
from the March 13, 2008, meeting. Seconded by Commissioner Lyon. So Ordered. 
 
EXECUTIVE ORDER REGARDING CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 
 
As required by Executive Order Number One, Chairman Fox asked Commissioner Lyon and Commissioner 
Joyner if there were any conflicts of interest or any conditions or facts that might create the appearance of a 
conflict of interest with respect to any matters on the Agenda. Commissioner Joyner stated that he had no 
conflicts of interest. Commissioner Lyon stated that he did have a conflict with hearing case #54, Prime Only 
Steak and Seafood. Chairman Fox stated that he had no conflicts of interest.  
 

I. HEARING CASES - 82 
 

Chief Counsel Fred Gregory stated that Mr. Jeff Weissman, owner of Terrapin Billiards and Bistro, hearing 
case #2, was present to speak on behalf of his business. Mr. Weissman stated that his business was a mom and 
pop bar and bistro that had only been open for about two and half years. He went on to state that the business 
had only a few billiard tables and that he was trying to run a clean business. 
 
Mr. Weissman stated that he went to visit his father, whom he hadn’t seen in about three years, and he left the 
business with employees he trusted.  While he was in New England, Ms. Watts, an employee who had worked 
the day shift until 6:00 PM, came back to the business with a party.  An ALE Agent came in that evening 
looking for that employee. Mr. Weissman stated that because he couldn’t have any locked areas in the 
business, he had given Ms. Watts a key to tape under the counter in case Alcohol Law Enforcement came in 
while he was gone.  Ms. Watts put the key on her key ring in her purse and when the ALE Agent came in, he 
asked for Ms. Watts and then asked to go into the office.  Mr. Weissman stated that Ms. Watts produced the 
key, and he understood at that point she was considered an employee.  
 

Mr. Weissman stated that he was asking for leniency. Chairman Fox asked Mr. Weissman how long was he 
gone. Mr. Weissman stated that he was gone for one full week.  
 
Chairman Fox asked how long had Ms. Watts worked for him.  Mr. Weissman stated that Ms. Watts had only 
worked for him about a month.  
 



2 
 

Commissioner Joyner asked Mr. Weissman if he had suspected that Ms. Watts was selling cocaine.              
Mr. Weissman stated that he had no idea.  
 
Chairman Fox asked Mr. Weissman if he had taken any education classes.  Mr. Weissman stated that he had. 
Chairman Fox made a motion to reduce the penalty from $1,200.00 to $600.00 and asked that he be very 
careful in the future.  Seconded by Commissioner Lyon.  So Ordered. 
 
Mr. Terry Baker, owner Bakers Mart, First Offense case #1, was present to speak on behalf of his business.  
Mr. Baker stated that he was not disputing the violation.  He took over the business on January 3, 2008, and 
when he did there was a lot of panhandling and a lot of undesirables running down the business.  Since taking 
over the business, things have gotten better.  
 

Mr. Baker stated that on the night of the violation, the business was very busy.  The employee who sold to the 
underage person has taken the Alcohol Law Enforcement training class.  He has put up signs on the cash 
register to remind him and the other employees about checking identification. 
 
Chairman Fox stated the concern he had was that the employee didn’t check identification. 
 
Chairman Fox asked Mr. Baker how many employees he had.  Mr. Baker stated that he had two employees, 
plus himself.  Chairman Fox asked if he had attended our RASP class, and Mr. Baker stated that he was going 
to call and get the employees set up for a class with Alcohol Law Enforcement but the only time the class was 
available wasn’t a good time.   
 
Chairman Fox made a motion to reduce the penalty from $900.00 to $600.00 upon the stipulation that he and 
all the employees attend a RASP class within the next 45 days.  Seconded by Commissioner Joyner.  So 
Ordered. 
 
Mr. Milton Brooks, owner of BB’s Sports Bar, First Offense case #2, was present to speak on behalf of his 
business.  Mr. Brooks stated that he wasn’t disputing the violation.  He went on to state that he had raised the 
age from 18 to 21 years old to enter the sports bar.  He did fire the employee who sold to the underage person, 
and he has spoken to ALE Agent King to set up a time for a class. 
 
Chairman Fox stated the concern he had was that the employee went by the college identification.  Chairman 
Fox asked how long had the club been there.  Mr. Brooks replied less than a year. 
 
Commissioner Joyner asked if it was a policy to sell to underage people.  Mr. Brooks stated that it wasn’t his 
policy, and he is now at the business every day.  
  
Chairman Fox stated that he is the permittee and therefore is responsible for whoever is operating his business 
on his behalf.  Mr. Brooks stated that he understood, and he was asking for a reduction in the penalty. 
 
Chairman Fox made a motion to reduce the penalty from $1,200.00 to $800.00 upon the stipulation that he and 
all his employees attend a RASP class within the next 45 days and that he also put up a sign that states “No one 
under 21 is allowed in the business.”  Mr. Brooks stated that he had already posted a big sign by the door that 
states that.  Seconded by Commissioner Lyon.  So Ordered. 
 
Mr. Travis Poe, owner of Wilton Food Mart, First Offense case #32, was present to speak on behalf of his 
business.  Mr. Poe stated that his night clerk sold a beer to an underage person.  An ALE Agent saw the 
underage person driving erratically and pulled him over, saw a beer in the vehicle and asked him where he had 
purchased the beer.  The underage person told the ALE Agent that he purchased the beer at his store.  The 



3 
 

agent went back to the store and questioned the clerk in regard to selling the beer to the underage person.  The 
clerk did admit to selling to the underage person. 
 

Mr. Poe stated that he wasn’t disputing the violation, but the clerk did tell him that when he had first started 
working there six months ago he had checked the underage person’s identification, and he did have proof 
showing that he was over 21 years of age.   
 
Chairman Fox asked Mr. Poe if he was aware from the violation report that the underage person was only 20 
years old.  Mr. Poe stated that he didn’t have any idea how old the underage person was, he only knew what 
the clerk had told him.  
 
Mr. Poe stated that he has had the registers updated so that the clerk has to enter the date of birth before the 
sale will go through.  He went on to state that calendars have been posted and signs were placed on the counter 
that state “If you look under 30 years old, you will be carded.” 
 

Commissioner Lyon asked Mr. Poe if he knew about the color code system on the driver’s license.  Mr. Poe 
stated that he did not.  Commissioner Lyon proceeded to show Mr. Poe an example of the color code chart. 
 
Chairman Fox asked how many employees he had.  Mr. Poe stated that he has three employees. 
 
Commissioner Joyner made a motion to reduce the penalty from $1,200.00 to $800.00 upon stipulation that all 
the employees attend a RASP class within the next 45 days.  Seconded by Commissioner Lyon.  So Ordered. 
 

Mr. Bipin Patel, owner of Quick Mart, First Offense case #6, was present to speak on behalf of his business.  
Mr. Patel stated that the employee didn’t properly check the identification.  
 
Commissioner Joyner asked Mr. Patel if he was present at the store when the incident occurred.  Mr. Patel 
stated that he was not.  Commissioner Joyner went on to ask if this was his only store.  Mr. Patel replied “Yes, 
this is.”  Commissioner Joyner asked Mr. Patel if he worked there.  Mr. Patel stated that he works the morning 
shift.  
 
Commissioner Lyon asked Mr. Patel if he realized that the employee looked at the driver’s license which stated 
that the person was under 18 years old, and the employee still sold alcohol to the underage person.  Mr. Patel 
replied that yes he did and that the identification was a Virginia driver’s license.  
 
Commissioner Joyner asked Mr. Patel how long had he been in business.  Mr. Patel stated about three years.  
He went on to state that since the violation occurred he has taken classes. 
 

Chairman Fox asked how many employees took the class.  Mr. Patel stated that only one employee took the 
class.  Chairman Fox made a motion to reduce the penalty from $1,200.00 to $800.00 upon the stipulation that 
all the employees take the RASP class within the next 45 days.  Seconded by Commission Joyner.  So Ordered. 
 
Mrs. Neti Jenkins, owner of Event Center, Hearing case #48, was present to speak on behalf of her business.  
Mrs. Jenkins stated that they have changed managers since the violation.  
 

Mrs. Jenkins stated that she was waiting to schedule a training class, but because she works and goes to 
graduate school, she was waiting until June to schedule a class.   
 
Mrs. Jenkins stated that she will send her employees and her husband to take the class. 
 



4 
 

Commissioner Lyon made a motion to reduce the penalty from $1,600.00 to $1,200.00 upon the stipulation 
that her husband attend the RASP class within the next 30 days and the employees attend the RASP class 
within the next 45 days.  Seconded by Commissioner Joyner.  So Ordered. 
 
Chief Counsel Fred Gregory stated that Mr. David Smith, attorney for Prospero Salgado, Reconsideration case 
#79, Big Party, was present to speak on behalf of his client.  Mr. Smith stated that he was asking for a 
reduction of penalty based upon the changes that have taken place since the incident occurred.  
 
Mr. Smith stated that orange bands were given to people who were 21 years of age and up to purchase 
alcoholic beverages.  An underage person received an orange band from another person at the establishment. 
This underage person then proceeded to the bar and purchased alcohol.  Since this incident, Big Party has 
changed its identification system to insure that this does not occur again.  
 

Chairman Fox asked what type of establishment Big Party is.  Mr. Smith stated that it is a nightclub in 
Alamance County.  
 
Chairman Fox asked Mr. Smith if Mr. Salgado had attended our RASP class.  Mr. Smith stated that               
Mr. Salgado and all the employees had attended the RASP class over a year ago.  Chairman Fox made a 
motion to reduce the penalty from $2,400.00 to $1,200.00 upon the stipulation that all the employees attend the 
RASP class within the next 45 days.  Seconded by Commissioner Joyner.  So Ordered. 
 

Chairman Fox made a motion to approve the remaining Offers in Compromise.  Seconded by Commissioner 
Joyner.  So Ordered. 
 
Chairman Fox made a motion to ratify hearing case #54, Prime Only Steak and Seafood.  Seconded by 
Commissioner Joyner.  So Ordered. 
 
II. FIRST OFFENSE CASES – 35 
 
The following is a list of first offense violation cases in which Final Agency Decisions were signed by the 
Chairman on March 13, 2008, pursuant to the Commission’s authorizing resolution dated November 8, 2002: 
 
1. Amended – see above 
2. Amended – see above 
3. Depot – 1509 Hwy 56, Creedmoor, NC 27509 
4. Damons Grill – 13230 Carowinds Boulevard, Charlotte, NC 28278 
5. Friendly B P – 5601 West Friendly Avenue, Greensboro, NC 27410 
6. Amended – see above 
7. R G S 1 – 1401-1403 East Memorial Drive, Ahoskie, NC 27910 
8. Sheetz – 5198 Reidsville Road, Walkertown, NC 27051 
9. Sitar India Palace – 3117-D Shannon Road, Durham, NC 27707 
10. Target Store T-1180 – 2701 Lawndale Drive, Greensboro, NC 27408 
11. Winks of Corolla – 1150 Ocean Trail, Corolla, NC 27927 
12. Xpress Mart – 3601 North Sharon Amity Road, Charlotte, NC 28205 
13. Bobby’s Grocery – 3114 Old Garner Road, Raleigh, NC 27610 
14. BJ’s Food Mart – 10 Michigan Avenue, Asheville, NC 28806 
15. Eagle Community Food Mart – 1224 Fayetteville Street, Durham, NC 27707 
16. Etna 3159 – 1509 East Franklin Street, Chapel Hill, NC 27514 
17. Hunam Chinese Restaurant – 790 Martin Luther King Jr. Boulevard, Chapel Hill, NC 27514 
18. Guilford College Family Fare 271 – 628 Guilford College Road, Greensboro, NC 27409 
19. Phillips 66 Kicks 6312 – 109 West NC Hwy 54, Durham, NC 27713 



5 
 

20. Petro Express 3958 – 2853 North Center Street, Hickory, NC 28601 
21. Plaza Drive B P – 489 East Plaza Drive, Mooresville, NC 28115 
22. Norms Minit Mart 8 – 112 Dana Road, Hendersonville, NC 28792 
23. Qdoba Mexican Grill – 8200 Providence Road, Suite 100, Charlotte, NC 28277 
24. Tanglewood Liberty – 2759 Roberts Avenue, Lumberton, NC 28358 
25. Caroco #1 – 702 North Alston Avenue, Durham, NC 27701 
26. El Ranchero – 176 North Caldwell Street, Brevard, NC 28712 
27. Kangaroo Express 406 – 1404 South Main Street, Lillington, NC 27546 
28. Grocery USA – 3720 North Tryon Street, Suite 105, Charlotte, NC 28206 
29. Four Brothers Food Store 206 – 7895 Broad Street, Rural Hall, NC 27405 
30. Travelers B P – 1906 Carthage Road, Lumberton, NC 28358 
31. Taqueria La Bamba – 316-F East Franklin Boulevard, Gastonia, NC 28054 
32. Amended – see above 
33. Kangaroo Express 3078 – 7545 NC 48, Battleboro, NC 27809 
34. Kangaroo Express 3087 – 1830 North Wesleyan Boulevard, Rocky Mount, NC 27804 
35. Petro Express 3937 – 2301 Beatties Ford Road, Charlotte, NC 28216 

 
Chairman Fox made a motion to approve the Offers in Compromise for the remaining First Offense cases.  
Seconded by Commissioner Lyon.  So Ordered. 
 
III. ABC STORE LOCATION – MECKLENBURG COUNTY ABC 
 
Administrator Michael Herring addressed the Commission concerning the Mecklenburg County ABC Board 
store location.  The Mecklenburg County ABC Board sent a letter to the Commission and is officially 
withdrawing the request for a new ABC store location.  They will meet again and decide on a better location 
for the ABC store.  
 
IV. ABC STORE LOCATION – LINCOLNTON ABC 
 
Administrator Michael Herring addressed the Commission concerning the Lincolnton ABC store location.  Mr. 
Herring told the Commission that in the investigation of this property, problems were found.  There is a 
question as to whether the property is properly zoned.  Mr. Herring stated that he did confirm that the sign was 
properly posted on March 18, 2008.  The 30-day requirement has been met; however, the Alcohol Law 
Enforcement Agent did not see the sign when he did the investigation, so he will go back out to the location to 
review the signage.  The purchase agreement is also missing from the packet.  Mr. Herring further stated that 
Mr. Burt Honeycutt, General Manager of the Lincolnton ABC Board, was present to answer any questions the 
Commission might have.  Mr. Herring stated that this approval will be continued to next month’s meeting. 
 
V. ABC STORE LOCATION – CITY OF LOCUST 
 
Administrator Michael Herring addressed the Commission concerning the proposed ABC store location in 
Stanly County, North Carolina.  On March 5, 2008, the Commission received a letter from Mr. Joe Bishop, 
Chairman of the Locust ABC Board.  On March 11, 2008, ALE Agent Omar Qureshi began an investigation 
and found that the Locust ABC Board wants to lease 2,800 square feet of property located at 1772 West Main 
Street in Locust, North Carolina.  
 
The property is owned by Mr. James J. Schad of Landvestors Group, LLC, and he has no conflict of interest 
with the Locust ABC Board members. 
 
Mr. Lee Timberlake, member of the Locust ABC Board, has a business named Bear Insurance which provided 
insurance on the exterior of the building.  The Locust ABC Board along with Penn National is underwriting the 



6 
 

interior of the building.  The Locust ABC Board did open a line of credit for $250,000.00 with The Bank of 
Stanly.  Mr. Mike Harwood, Locust ABC Board member and Senior Vice President of The Bank of Stanly, 
recused himself from that account and allowed the bank president to handle it.  Mr. Harry Fletcher, General 
Manager of Locust ABC Board, did resign from his position as a city council member in order to avoid any 
appearance of conflict. 
 
The proposed location is approximately 13.7 miles from the Concord ABC Store.  The nearest church is Brown 
Hill AME Zion Church and is .3 miles from the proposed location.  The nearest school is Locust Elementary 
School and is 2.1 miles from the proposed location.  
 
Pursuant to ABC Commission Rules, Notice of Intent was properly posted on March 6, 2008, in compliance 
with the ABC Commission’s 30-day requirement. 
 
No objections have been received locally nor has the ABC Commission received any objections. 
 
Mr. Herring stated that Chairman Joe Bishop with the Locust ABC Board, along with some other 
representatives from the City of Locust, were present to answer any questions the Commission might have.  
Mr. Herring recommended that the ABC Commission approve the request.  
 
Commissioner Joyner stated that it was good to see that they had a business model or projected income 
statement.  
 
Commissioner Lyon asked what the population was.  Mr. Bishop stated 3,500. 
 
Commissioner Lyon made a motion to approve the new store location.  Seconded by Chairman Fox.  So 
Ordered. 
 
 
With no further business, the meeting adjourned. 
 
 
_______________________________________ 
Douglas A. Fox 
N.C. Alcoholic Beverage Control Commission 

  
Respectfully submitted by  

  
_________________________________________ 
Tiffany Goodson, Legal Division 


